Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 06-20

Sea Scallop Stock Assessment Update for 2005

by Deborah R. Hart

September 2006

Recent Issues in This Series

- 05-19 Seasonal Management Area to Reduce Ship Strikes of Northern Right Whales in the Gulf of Maine, by RL Merrick. December 2005.
- 06-01 **42nd SAW Assessment Summary Report**, by the 42nd Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. January 2006.
- 06-02 The 2005 Assessment of the Gulf of Maine Atlantic Cod Stock, by RK Mayo and LA Col. March 2006.
- 06-03 Summer Abundance Estimates of Cetaceans in US North Atlantic Navy Operating Areas, by DL Palka. March 2006.
- 06-04 Mortality and Serious Injury Determinations for Baleen Whale Stocks along the Eastern Seaboard of the United States, 2000-2004, by TVN Cole, DL Hartley, and M Garron. April 2006.
- 06-05 A Historical Perspective on the Abundance and Biomass of Northeast Complex Stocks from NMFS and Massachusetts Inshore Bottom Trawl Surveys, 1963-2002, by KA Sosebee and SX Cadrin. April 2006.
- 06-06 Report of the GoMA GOOS Workshop on Objectives of Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management in the Gulf of Maine Area, Woods Hole, Massachusetts, 11-13 May 2004, by S Gavaris, WL Gabriel, and TT Noji, Co-Chairs. April 2006.
- 06-07 Vida de los Pescadores Costeros del Pacífico desde México a Perú y su Dependencia de la Recolecta de Conchas (*Anadara* spp.), Almejas (*Polymesoda* spp.), Ostiones (*Crassostrea* spp., *Ostreola* spp.), Camarones (*Penaeus* spp.), Cangrejos (*Callinectes* spp.), y la Pesca de Peces de Escama en Los Manglares [The Fishermen's Lives in Pacific Coast Villages from Mexico to Peru, Supported by Landings of Mangrove Cockles (*Anadara* spp.), Clams (*Polymesoda* spp.), Oysters (*Crassostrea* spp., *Ostreola* spp.), Shrimp (*Penaeus* spp.), Crabs (*Callinectes* spp.), and Finfish], by CL MacKenzie Jr and RJ Buesa. April 2006.
- 06-08 Bloom History of Picoplankter *Aureooccus anophagefferens* in the New Jersey Barnegat Bay-Little Egg Harbor System and Great Bay, 1995-1999, by JB Mahoney, PS Olsen, and D Jeffress. May 2006.
- 06-09 **42nd Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop (42nd SAW) Stock Assessment Report**, by the Northeast Fisheries Science Center. May 2006.
- 06-10 Assessment of the Georges Bank Atlantic Cod Stock for 2005, by L O'Brien, N Shepherd, and L Col. June 2006.
- 06-11 Stock Assessment of Georges Bank Haddock, 1931-2004, by J Brodziak, M Traver, L Col, and S Sutherland. June 2006.
- 06-12 Report from the Atlantic Surfclam (*Spisula solidissima*) Aging Workshop Northeast Fisheries Science Center, Woods Hole, MA, 7-9 November 2005, by L Jacobson, S Sutherland, J Burnett, M Davidson, J Harding, J Normant, A Picariello, and E Powell. July 2006.
- 06-13 Estimates of Cetacean and Seal Bycatch in the 2004 Northeast Sink Gillnet and Mid-Atlantic Coastal Gillnet Fisheries, by DL Belden, CD Orphanides, MC Rossman, and DL Palka. July 2006.
- 06-14 **43rd SAW Assessment Summary Report**, by the 43rd Northeast Regional Stock Assessment Workshop. July 2006.
- 06-15 **Documentation for the Energy Modeling and Analysis eXercise (EMAX)**, by JS Link, CA Griswold, ET Methratta, and J Gunnard, Editors. August 2006.
- 06-16 Northeast Fisheries Science Center Publications, Reports, and Abstracts for Calendar Year 2005, by L Garner and J Gunnard. August 2006
- 06-17 Stock Assessment of Summer Flounder for 2006, by M Terceiro. August 2006.
- 06-18 **Environmental preferences of herring under changing harvest regimes**, by KD Friedland, JE O'Reilly, JA Hare, GB Wood, WJ Overholtz, and MD Cieri. August 2006.
- 06-19 Estimated Average Annual Bycatch of Loggerhead Sea Turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in U.S. Mid-Atlantic Bottom Otter Trawl Gear, 1996-2004, by KT Murray. September 2006.

Sea Scallop Stock Assessment Update for 2005

by Deborah R. Hart

National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole MA 02543; deborah.hart@noaa.gov (email)

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Northeast Fisheries Science Center Woods Hole, Massachusetts

September 2006

Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Documents

This series is a secondary scientific series designed to assure the long-term documentation and to enable the timely transmission of research results by Center and/or non-Center researchers, where such results bear upon the research mission of the Center (see the outside back cover for the mission statement). These documents receive internal scientific review but no technical or copy editing. The National Marine Fisheries Service does not endorse any proprietary material, process, or product mentioned in these documents.

All documents issued in this series since April 2001, and several documents issued prior to that date, have been copublished in both paper and electronic versions. To access the electronic version of a document in this series, go to *http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/series/ crdlist.htm*. The electronic version will be available in PDF format to permit printing of a paper copy directly from the Internet. If you do not have Internet access, or if a desired document is one of the pre-April 2001 documents available only in the paper version, you can obtain a paper copy by contacting the senior Center author of the desired document. Refer to the title page of the desired document for the senior Center author's name and mailing address. If there is no Center author, or if there is corporate (*i.e.*, non-individualized) authorship, then contact the Center's Woods Hole Laboratory Library (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026).

This document's publication history is as follows: manuscript submitted for review August 24,2006; manuscript accepted through technical review September 5,2006; manuscript accepted through policy review September 8, 2006; and final copy submitted for publication September 8, 2006. This document may be cited as:

Hart DR. 2006. Sea scallop stock assessment update for 2005. US Dep. Commer., *Northeast Fish. Sci. Cent. Ref. Doc.* 06-20; 14 p.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Life history and distribution	1
Landings	2
Surveys	2
Fishing mortality estimates	2
Status determination for 2005	3
References	3
Status determination for 2005 References	3 3

List of Tables

Table 1.	U.S. sea scallop landings, 1964-2005	4
Table 2.	NEFSC sea scallop survey stratified means for >40 mm scallops	6
Table 3.	Fishing mortality estimates for Georges Bank, Mid-Atlantic, and combined	8

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Sea scallop biomass distribution from the 2005 NEFSC sea scallop surve	ey, showing
	closed/access area boundaries, including the Delmarva closure scheduled fo	r 200710
Figure 2.	Sea scallop landings by region, 1964-2005	
Figure 3.	Sea scallop landings by meat count category, 1998-2005	
Figure 4.	Sea scallop survey biomass and estimated fishing mortality for Georges	Bank, Mid-
-	Atlantic, and combined	

Introduction

This report is an updated assessment of U.S. sea scallops, using data through the end of the 2005 calendar year. The methodology used here is identical to that used in the last fully peer-reviewed stock assessment (NEFSC 2004), but is updated to include two more calendar years of landings and fishery-independent survey data (2004-2005).

The Atlantic sea scallop, *Placopecten magellanicus*, occurs in continental shelf waters of the Northwest Atlantic between Cape Hatteras and Newfoundland. It supports one of the most valuable fisheries in the United States, with an ex-vessel value in 2005 of over \$430 million, and is the most valuable wild scallop fishery in the world. Major commercial concentrations of sea scallops in U.S. waters occur in the Mid-Atlantic Bight (Virginia to Long Island), on Georges Bank and surrounding areas (including the Great South Channel and Nantucket Shoals), and near-shore areas in the Gulf of Maine.

The U.S. federal sea scallop fishery is managed by the New England Fishery Management Council, under Amendment 10 to the sea scallop management plan. The bulk of landings come from more than 300 vessels with limited access permits, but a growing percentage are being taken by vessels with open access general category permits. Limited access vessels are controlled by annual day at sea limits, crew size limits, and trip limits to special access areas. General category vessels are limited to 400 lbs of meats per day or trip, whichever is more restrictive. Gear restrictions (4" rings with a 10" twine top on dredges) apply to all permits.

Fishery closures have strongly influenced sea scallop population dynamics and fisheries in recent years. Three large areas on Georges Bank and Nantucket Shoals were closed to groundfish and scallop fishing in December 1994. Since then, scallop biomass in these areas has increased by about a factor of 25 (Hart and Rago 2006). Portions of these areas were reopened to limited scallop fishing from June-November 1999, June 2000-January 2001, and since November 2004, with seasonal closures during February through June 15. In the Mid-Atlantic, two areas were closed to scallop fishing for three years in April 1998, and a new rotational area (the "Elephant Trunk" closed area) was closed in July 2004. Substantial increases in biomass occurred in one of the two original rotational closures, from which considerable landings were derived after this area was reopened in May 2001. Considerable increases in biomass have also been observed in the Elephant Trunk area prior to its planned 2007 reopening.

Life History and Distribution

Sea scallops occur in the Northwest Atlantic Ocean from North Carolina to Newfoundland along the continental shelf, typically on sand and gravel bottoms (Hart and Chute 2004). In Georges Bank and the Mid-Atlantic, most are harvested at depths between 30 and 100 m, while the bulk of the landings from the Gulf of Maine are from near-shore relatively shallow waters (< 40 m). Sea scallops filter-feed on phytoplankton, microzooplankton, and detritus particles. Sexes are separate with external fertilization, and larvae are planktonic for 4-7 weeks before settling to the bottom. Scallops recruit to the NEFSC survey at about 2 years old (40-70 mm), and to the commercial fishery currently at around 4-5 years old, though historically most 3-year-olds were vulnerable to the commercial fishery.

According to Amendment 10 of the Atlantic Sea Scallop Fishery Management Plan (NEFMC 2003), all scallops in the US Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) belong to a single stock. The US sea scallop stock can be subdivided into Georges Bank, Mid-Atlantic, Southern New England, and Gulf of Maine regional components based on survey data, fishery patterns, and other information (NEFSC 2004). The stock is likely composed of smaller regional meta-populations with some movement of larvae from Georges Bank into Southern New England and from Southern New England to the Mid-Atlantic. The main regional components are Georges Bank (including the Great South Channel and Nantucket Shoals) and the Mid-Atlantic Region (Figure 1). However, relatively small but imprecisely known amounts of sea scallop biomass occur in areas outside regularly surveyed NEFSC shellfish strata. Landings from other regions have been comparatively minor. As in NEFSC (2004), abundance and fishing mortality estimates for Georges Bank and the Mid-Atlantic are estimated separately in this assessment and then combined to characterize the condition of the stock as a whole.

Growth in sea scallops is modeled using the von Bertalanffy growth equation $SH = L_{\infty}$ [1-exp(-K(t-t₀))], where SH is shell height (in mm) and t is age (in years). The parameters L_{∞} and K, based on Serchuk et al. (1979), are taken as $L_{\infty} = 152.46$, K = 0.3374 (Georges Bank), $L_{\infty} = 151.84$, K = 0.2997 (Mid-Atlantic). Since sea scallop assessments are not age-based, the value of t₀ is irrelevant for this assessment. Shell height to meat weight equations ln(MW) = a + bln(SH) are as given in NEFSC (2004): a = 11.6038, b = 3.1221 (Georges Bank), a = 12.2484, b = 3.2641 (Mid-Atlantic).

Landings

Total US landings of sea scallops averaged 26,639 mt meats during 2003-2005, nearly quadruple the amount typical during the mid-1990s (Table 1, Figure 2). The landings of 29,321 mt meats in 2004 was an all-time record. The recent increase in landings occurred primarily in the Mid-Atlantic area, where they were well above historical levels. Georges Bank landings remained around their long-term average from 1999-2004, but increased to a near-record 9711 mt meats in 2005, primarily due to reopening of portions of the closed area. The recent increases in landings were mainly due to increased recruitment in the Mid-Atlantic and improved management that has caused scallops to be landed at a much larger size. A majority of the landed meats from the mid-1980s through 1998 were in the smaller market categories (>30 meats per pound). Landings in more recent years have trended to much larger sizes; the mean weight of a landed scallop meat in 2005 was about twice that of a meat in the 1990s (Figure 3).

Surveys

Sea scallop surveys using a lined 8' dredge have been conducted by NEFSC since 1979, but the survey of Georges Bank was incomplete prior to 1982. Thus, survey data used for this assessment are for 1982-2005 for Georges Bank, and 1979-2005 in the Mid-Atlantic. Since 2004, rock chains have been used in four strata in the Great South Channel. In rocky areas, the rock chains increase the efficiency of the gear by about a factor of 1.56 (NEFSC 2004, Appendix 2). In order to be consistent with previous years, the catches in these four strata were reduced by a factor of 1.56 in 2004-2005. Further details regarding the surveys can be found in NEFSC (2004).

Survey biomass in both resource areas remained low through the mid-1990s (Table 2, Figure 4). The closure of three large areas on Georges Bank and Nantucket Shoals, combined with drastically reduced fishing effort (due to shifts of effort to the Mid-Atlantic and later to effort reduction measures) caused a rapid increase in biomass from 1994-2000, with biomass in this area remaining roughly stable since then. Mid-Atlantic biomass remained low until 1998, when the closure of two areas combined with effort reduction measures and very strong recruitment induced a rapid increase in biomass. The overall biomass index began increasing in the mid-1990s, and stood at 7.8 kg/tow in 2005, well above the biomass target of 5.6 kg/tow.

Fishing mortality estimates

Following NEFSC (2004), fishing mortality was estimated using the "rescaled catch-biomass" method. In summary, fishing mortality trends for Georges Bank and the Mid-Atlantic were estimated by the ratio of landings to survey biomass. These trends were scaled so that they averaged the long-term average fishing mortality estimated in each year by the "two-bin" method:

$${}^{s}F_{t} = -\ln(\frac{P_{t+1}}{R_{t} + P_{t}}) - M,$$

where R_t was the mean population number of scallops per standard survey tow in the first bin (new recruits) during survey year *t*, and P_t was the mean population number of scallops per standard survey tow in the second bin (plus group). Natural mortality *M* was estimated as 0.1 as in NEFSC 2004. The estimates from the two regions were combined using a number-weighed average. Further details on these calculations can be found in NEFSC (2004) and Hart and Rago (2006).

Georges Bank fishing mortality peaked at about 1.7 in 1991, but declined drastically starting in 1994 (Table 3 and Fig. 4). In recent years (2000-2005), fishing mortality has been around 0.1; the 2005 fishing mortality was slightly higher than the recent average (0.15) primarily due to reopenings of portions of the closed areas. Mid-Atlantic fishing mortality peaked at about 1.6 in 1992. Fishing mortality declined greatly between 1996 and 1999, and since then has modestly varied without trend. Fishing mortality in 2005 was the lowest in the time series (0.3); the recent decrease is primarily due to the rotational closure of the Elephant Trunk area. Fishing mortality for the overall resource peaked at 1.55 in 1991 and then declined considerably between 1991 and 1998. Since 1998, overall fishing mortality has varied between 0.18 and 0.34; it was 0.22 in 2005, slightly under the overfishing threshold of 0.24, but just over the fishing mortality target of 0.2.

Status determination for 2005

The overall NEFSC sea scallop survey index stood at 7.8 kg/tow for 2005, above the biomass target of 5.6 kg/tow (NEFMC 2003). Sea scallops were therefore not overfished. The point estimate for fishing mortality of the overall sea scallop resource was 0.22, below the overfishing threshold of 0.24. Thus, overfishing of sea scallops was not occurring. However, there are important caveats to this conclusion. First, the confidence interval for fishing mortality contains the overfishing threshold, so it cannot be concluded with statistical certainty that overfishing was not occurring. Perhaps more importantly, the fishing mortality estimate in 2005 is a spatial average over heavily fished areas and areas that are either closed (e.g., the Elephant Trunk Closed Area and the Nantucket Lightship Closed Area) or where fishing mortality was low (e.g., Georges Bank Closed Areas I and II). Because over half the scallop biomass is contained in the closed areas, fishing mortality in the remainder of the resource must be over the fishing mortality threshold, and localized overfishing of some areas must be continuing. There is a possibility that unless fishing effort elsewhere is reduced, overfishing of the overall resource may reoccur when the Elephant Trunk area is reopened and fishing mortality there is ramped up. Finally, there has been considerable growth in general category fishing effort in the last several years which also threatens to induce overfishing unless management action is taken to contain effort in this sector.

References

- Hart DR, Chute AS. 2004. Essential fish habitat source document: sea scallop, *Placopecten* <u>magellanicus</u>, life history and habitat characteristics (2nd edition). Woods Hole MA: NOAA Tech Memo NMFS-NE-189, 21 p.
- Hart DR, Rago PJ. 2006. Long-term dynamics of U.S. sea scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) populations. N Am J Fish Manage 26:490-501.
- NEFMC [New England Fishery Management Council]. 2003. <u>Final Amendment 10 to the Atlantic sea</u> <u>scallop fishery management plan with a supplemental environmental impact statement,</u> <u>regulatory impact review, and regulatory flexibility analysis.</u> Newburyport MA: NEFMC.
- NEFSC [Northeast Fisheries Science Center]. 2004. <u>39th Northeast Regional Stock Assessment</u> <u>Workshop (39th SAW) assessment summary report & assessment report</u>, Woods Hole MA: NEFSC Ref Doc 04-10; 211 p.
- Serchuk FM, Wood PW Jr, Posgay JA, Brown BE. 1979. Assessment and status of sea scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) populations off the northeast coast of the United States. In: Proc Natl Shellfish Assoc 69:161-191.

		Gulf of	Maine			George	s Bank		S. Ne	ew Engla	and		Mi	d Atlantic	: Bight		Uncl.	Total			
Year	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	other	dredge	trawl	other	sum
1964		0	208	208		0	6,241	6,241		52	3	55		0	137	137			52	6,590	6,642
1965		0	117	117		3	1,478	1,481		2	24	26		0	3,974	3,974			5	5,592	5,598
1966		0	102	102		0	883	884		0	8	8		0	4,061	4,061			1	5,055	5,056
1967		0	80	80		4	1,217	1,221		0	8	8		0	1,873	1,873			4	3,178	3,182
1968		0	113	113		0	993	994		0	56	56		0	2,437	2,437			0	3,599	3,599
1969		1	122	123		8	1,316	1,324		0	18	19		5	846	851			14	2,302	2,317
1970		0	132	132		5	1,410	1,415		0	6	6		14	459	473			19	2,006	2,026
1971		4	358	362		18	1,311	1,329		0	7	7		0	274	274			22	1,949	1,971
1972		1	524	525		5	816	821		0	2	2		5	653	658			11	1,995	2,006
1973		0	460	460		15	1,065	1,080		0	3	3		4	245	249			19	1,773	1,792
1974		0	223	223		15	911	926		0	4	5		0	937	938			16	2,076	2,091
1975		6	741	746		13	844	857		8	42	50		52	1,506	1,558			80	3,132	3,212
1976		3	364	366		38	1,723	1,761		4	3	7		317	2,972	3,288			361	5,061	5,422
1977		4	254	258		27	4,709	4,736		1	10	11		27	2,564	2,591			58	7,536	7,595
1978	242	1	0	243	5,532	37	0	5,569	25	2	0	27	4,175	21	0	4,196		9,974	61	0	10,035
1979	401	5	1	407	6,253	25	7	6,285	61	5	0	66	2,857	29	1	2,888		9,572	64	9	9,645
1980	1,489	122	3	1,614	5,382	34	2	5,419	130	3	0	133	1,966	9	0	1,975	< 0.01	8,968	169	4	9,142
1981	1,225	73	7	1,305	7,787	56	0	7,843	68	1	0	69	726	5	0	731		9,806	135	7	9,948
1982	631	28	5	664	6,204	119	0	6,322	126	0	0	126	1,602	6	2	1,610		8,562	153	7	8,723
1983	815	72	7	895	4,247	32	4	4,284	243	1	0	243	3,081	18	10	3,109		8,386	124	21	8,530
1984	651	18	10	678	3,011	29	3	3,043	161	3	0	164	3,647	26	2	3,675		7,470	76	14	7,560
1985	408	3	10	421	2,860	34	0	2,894	77	4	0	82	3,227	47	1	3,276		6,572	88	11	6,672
1986	308	2	6	316	4,428	10	0	4,438	76	2	0	78	3,257	101	0	3,359		8,068	115	7	8,190
1987	373	0	9	382	4,821	30	0	4,851	67	1	0	68	7,488	315	1	7,803		12,749	346	10	13,104
1988	506	7	13	526	6,036	18	0	6,054	65	4	0	68	5,774	402	2	6,178		12,381	430	16	12,826
1989	600	0	44	644	5,637	25	0	5,661	127	11	0	138	7,549	422	2	7,973		13,913	458	45	14,416
1990	545	0	28	574	9,972	10	0	9,982	110	6	0	116	5,954	476	4	6,435		16,581	493	32	17,107
1991	527	3	75	605	9,235	77	0	9,311	55	16	0	71	6,195	808	9	7,011		16,012	903	84	16,999
1992	676	2	45	722	8,230	7	0	8,238	119	5	0	124	4,386	563	5	4,955		13,411	577	50	14,039
1993	763	2	32	797	3,637	18	0	3,655	65	1	0	66	2,382	392	3	2,778		6,848	413	36	7,296

Table 1. U.S. sea scallop landings (mt meats), 1964-2005.

Tabl	le 1	continued.

	Gulf of Maine				Georges Bank				S. New England			Mid Atlantic Bight				Uncl.	Total				
Year	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	dredge	trawl	other	sum	other	dredge	trawl	other	sum
1994	519	3	3	525	1,133	3	1	1,137	0	1	0	1	5,176	688	9	5,872		6,827	693	13	7,534
1995	424	4	238	665	967	15	0	982	35	1	0	36	5,408	744	166	6,318		6,799	762	404	7,965
1996	632	20	121	773	2,040	6	0	2,045	74	0	0	74	4,335	656	9	4,999		7,006	682	130	7,818
1997	581	21	98	699	2,317	10	0	2,326	69	0	0	69	2,442	357	111	2,910		5,339	387	209	5,936
1998	443	10	1	455	1,990	27	0	2,016	95	6	0	102	2,359	574	15	2,948	44	4,792	610	17	5,565
1999	277	3	0	280	5,151	4	0	5,155	46	5	3	54	3,646	958	50	4,653	4	9,074	965	50	10,146
2000	182	8	1	191	5,412	25	0	5,437	84	2	0	86	7,707	1,142	10	8,860	49	13,301	1,175	11	14,623
2001	383	18	29	430	4,941	11	0	4,952	27	1	2	31	14,161	1,570	38	15,768		19,485	1,599	67	21,180
2002	533	7	2	542	5,653	40	0	5,694	41	3	0	43	16,016	1,591	5	17,612		22,202	1,639	7	23,891
2003	246	7	1	254	4,908	14	0	4,922	84	2	0	85	18,189	1,470	1	19,660	187	23,343	1,491	1	25,107
2004	126	7	1	134	4,301	48	4	4,353	106	20	22	148	23,212	1,453	21	24,686		27,639	1,508	26	29,321
2005	189	12	0	201	9,540	171	0	9,711	294	16	1	311	14,288	972	6	15,266		24,017	1,155	6	25,489

Table 2. NEFSC sea scallop survey stratified means for >40 mm scallops. Biomass is in meat weight.

							Biomass	Biomass	Mean
			Num/tow	Num/Tow	Piomoco		Not	Fully	Meat Woight
Year	Num/Tow	cv	Recruited	Recruited	g/Tow	с٧	g/Tow	g/Tow	(G)
-									
George	s Bank	070/	400	22	000	400/	204	505	0.0
1982	133	37%	100	33	869	18%	304	565	0.0
1983	61	21%	24	37	720	16%	97	623	11.9
1984	39	11%	15	23	544	9%	55	490	14.0
1985	65	14%	31	34	706	13%	126	579	10.8
1986	116	13%	79	37	917	9%	269	648	7.9
1987	126	15%	67	58	1,082	13%	245	837	8.6
1988	104	15%	56	48	904	12%	216	688	8.7
1989	111	36%	56	55	943	33%	248	695	8.5
1990	207	22%	129	78	1,340	20%	475	865	6.5
1991	251	30%	200	51	1,246	14%	551	695	5.0
1992	264	38%	185	79	1,638	29%	787	851	6.2
1993	70	28%	47	23	531	17%	204	327	7.6
1994	45	16%	20	25	457	13%	69	388	10.2
1995	120	18%	92	28	747	13%	285	462	6.2
1996	139	16%	70	69	1,332	14%	256	1,076	9.6
1997	100	13%	28	72	1,612	14%	98	1,514	16.1
1998	317	31%	145	172	4,000	37%	508	3,492	12.6
1999	246	17%	67	179	4,306	25%	158	4,148	17.5
2000	888	30%	542	346	8,131	21%	2,243	5,888	9.2
2001	473	13%	147	327	7,010	14%	616	6,394	14.8
2002	397	13%	33	364	8,051	13%	174	7,877	20.3
2003	311	12%	61	250	7,529	14%	231	7,299	24.2
2004	350	11%	43	307	9,289	11%	174	9,116	26.5
2005	275	12%	33	241	7,759	11%	133	7,626	28.3
Mid-Atla	antic Bight								
1979	43	9%	11	32	728	10%	46	681	16.9
1980	51	12%	27	24	615	7%	62	553	12.1
1981	40	17%	18	22	488	11%	64	423	12.3
1982	40	11%	16	24	508	8%	64	444	12.8
1983	38	9%	20	19	472	8%	65	407	12.3
1984	39	10%	15	24	454	9%	49	406	11.8
1985	93	13%	58	35	734	9%	207	528	7.9
1986	152	8%	89	64	1,186	7%	323	863	7.8
1987	152	8%	94	58	1,039	6%	276	763	6.9
1988	179	10%	78	101	1.683	8%	302	1.381	9.4
1989	216	9%	129	87	1.525	7%	462	1.063	7.1
1990	264	22%	173	91	1.672	17%	702	970	6.3
1991	103	10%	48	55	963	10%	196	767	9.4
1992	53	10%	24	28	543	7%	82	461	10.3
1993	164	11%	138	26	753	8%	391	362	4.6
1994	162	10%	95	67	1.043	8%	326	717	6.4
1995	218	13%	125	94	1.547	11%	567	980	7.1
1996	77	8%	23	53	773	7%	116	657	10.1
1997	54	12%	28	26	533	6%	66	467	9.8

Table 2 continued.

Year	Num/Tow	сѵ	Num/tow Not Recruited	Num/Tow Fully Recruited	Biomass g/Tow	сѵ	Biomass Not Recruited g/Tow	Biomass Fully Recruited g/Tow	Mean Meat Weight (G)
Mid-Atla	antic Bight co	ontinued							
1998	195	17%	145	50	1,101	15%	474	627	5.7
1999	309	21%	173	136	2,281	18%	640	1,641	7.4
2000	389	14%	131	257	4,005	13%	572	3,434	10.3
2001	398	12%	141	257	4,519	13%	523	3,995	11.3
2002	404	11%	112	292	5,122	12%	399	4,723	12.7
2003	864	15%	495	370	7,603	9%	1,297	6,306	8.8
2004	675	11%	303	372	6,700	7%	1,355	5,345	9.9
2005	507	9%	122	385	7,860	8%	351	7,509	15.5
Combin	ned								
1982	83	28%	55	28	676	11%	176	500	8.1
1983	49	13%	22	27	587	10%	80	507	12.1
1984	39	8%	15	24	496	6%	51	445	12.8
1985	80	9%	46	35	721	8%	169	552	9.1
1986	135	7%	84	51	1.061	6%	298	763	7.8
1987	140	8%	82	58	1,059	7%	262	798	7.6
1988	144	8%	68	77	1,320	6%	262	1,058	9.2
1989	167	13%	95	72	1,254	12%	363	892	7.5
1990	237	16%	153	85	1,517	13%	596	921	6.4
1991	172	21%	119	53	1,095	9%	361	734	6.4
1992	151	31%	99	52	1,053	21%	410	643	7.0
1993	120	11%	96	24	650	8%	304	346	5.4
1994	108	9%	60	48	770	7%	206	564	7.2
1995	173	10%	110	63	1,175	9%	436	739	6.9
1996	106	11%	45	61	1,033	9%	181	852	10.3
1997	76	9%	28	48	1,035	10%	81	954	14.9
1998	251	20%	145	107	2,451	29%	490	1,961	10.5
1999	268	14%	124	144	1,978	16%	416	1,562	11.1
2000	621	21%	323	299	5,926	14%	1,350	4,576	10.0
2001	433	9%	144	290	5,678	10%	566	5,112	13.3
2002	401	8%	75	326	6,485	9%	294	6,192	16.2
2003	607	12%	293	314	7,569	8%	801	6,768	12.5
2004	524	8%	182	342	7,905	7%	805	7,100	15.1
2005	399	7%	81	318	7,813	7%	249	7,564	19.6

 Table 3. Fishing mortality estimates for Georges Bank, Mid-Atlantic, and combined. The best estimates are given under the "Rescaled F" column in bold. Further details can be found in NEFSC 2004.

Georges	Bank	

	80-100	100+	SurveyF	CV	Landings	MinEBms	Ebms	CV	CBI	CV	RescaledF	CV	BH-F	MovAvg
1982	14.8	11.4			6322	3124	7811	0.12	0.81	0.15	1.42	0.16	0.62	0.64
1983	22.2	12.0	0.68		4284	3443	8608	0.10	0.50	0.14	0.88	0.15	0.81	0.66
1984	10.5	11.3	1.01		3043	2707	6767	0.10	0.45	0.14	0.79	0.15	0.48	0.59
1985	17.1	12.5	0.46		2894	3204	8011	0.14	0.36	0.17	0.64	0.18	0.70	0.77
1986	15.2	14.9	0.59		4438	3585	8964	0.09	0.50	0.13	0.87	0.14	0.58	0.87
1987	35.8	14.8	0.61		4851	4631	11578	0.13	0.42	0.16	0.74	0.17	1.03	1.14
1988	27.8	12.8	1.27		6054	3806	9515	0.10	0.64	0.14	1.12	0.15	0.99	1.42
1989	35.6	10.2	1.28		5661	3842	9605	0.32	0.59	0.34	1.04	0.34	1.38	1.43
1990	53.9	8.8	1.54		9982	4785	11962	0.22	0.83	0.24	1.47	0.24	1.89	1.37
1991	26.9	12.0	1.55		9311	3844	9611	0.09	0.97	0.14	1.71	0.14	1.02	0.98
1992	32.4	11.3	1.14		8238	4708	11770	0.17	0.70	0.19	1.23	0.20	1.21	0.97
1993	8.7	7.2	1.71		3655	1806	4514	0.10	0.81	0.14	1.43	0.15	0.72	0.77
1994	16.4	7.2	0.69		1137	2145	5363	0.12	0.21	0.16	0.37	0.16	0.96	0.81
1995	10.9	12.1	0.57		982	2554	6385	0.12	0.15	0.15	0.27	0.16	0.63	0.64
1996	37.9	23.5	-0.12		2045	5950	14874	0.14	0.14	0.17	0.24	0.18	0.83	0.59
1997	24.9	44.4	0.22		2326	8370	20926	0.14	0.11	0.17	0.20	0.18	0.45	0.46
1998	66.7	92.0	-0.38		2016	19308	48271	0.39	0.04	0.40	0.07	0.41	0.47	0.51
1999	59.3	84.7	0.53		5155	22937	57342	0.31	0.09	0.32	0.16	0.33	0.46	0.53
2000	133.5	135.6	-0.04		5437	32560	81401	0.20	0.07	0.23	0.12	0.23	0.58	0.53
2001	151.5	154.9	0.45		4952	35358	88396	0.15	0.06	0.18	0.10	0.19	0.55	0.40
2002	145.3	215.1	0.25		5694	43561	108903	0.13	0.05	0.17	0.09	0.17	0.45	0.32
2003	33.8	207.9	0.45		4922	40360	100901	0.13	0.05	0.17	0.09	0.17	0.18	0.18
2004	57.4	236.2	-0.08		4353	53546	133865	0.11	0.03	0.15	0.06	0.15	0.18	
2005	44.0	211.8	0.23		9711	45659	114146	0.11	0.09	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.15	
Mean8205	45.1	65.2	0.63	0.04	4894		37062		0.36		0.63		0.72	
Mean8294	24.4	11.3	1.02		5375		8775		0.60		1.02		0.94	
Mean9505	72.1	120.6	0.19		4327		70492		0.08		0.14		0.45	

Mid-Atlantic

	80-98.5	98.5+	SurveyF	CV	Landings	MinEBms	EBms	CV	СВІ	CV	RescaledF	CV	BH-F	MovAvg
1979	10.9	19.1			2888	4326	7210	0.10	0.40	0.14	0.65	0.15	0.38	0.39
1980	7.0	16.2	0.52		1975	3512	5854	0.07	0.34	0.12	0.55	0.12	0.33	0.45
1981	9.0	10.1	0.73		731	2686	4476	0.10	0.16	0.14	0.26	0.14	0.47	0.46
1982	11.3	10.6	0.49		1610	2819	4698	0.08	0.34	0.13	0.55	0.13	0.55	0.55
1983	6.4	10.8	0.61		3109	2582	4304	0.08	0.72	0.13	1.17	0.13	0.36	0.61
1984	14.8	8.2	0.64		3675	2577	4295	0.09	0.86	0.13	1.38	0.13	0.73	0.85
1985	16.9	11.8	0.57		3276	3351	5584	0.07	0.59	0.12	0.95	0.12	0.75	0.99
1986	40.0	15.9	0.49		3359	5480	9133	0.07	0.37	0.12	0.59	0.12	1.06	1.10
1987	40.1	13.6	1.31		7803	4842	8071	0.06	0.97	0.12	1.56	0.12	1.16	1.16
1988	66.4	24.8	0.67		6178	8768	14613	0.07	0.42	0.12	0.68	0.12	1.10	1.24
1989	53.5	16.2	1.63		7973	6748	11247	0.07	0.71	0.12	1.15	0.12	1.22	1.21
1990	49.7	11.7	1.69		6435	6161	10268	0.10	0.63	0.14	1.01	0.14	1.41	1.05
1991	33.5	14.8	1.32		7011	4872	8120	0.11	0.86	0.15	1.39	0.15	1.01	0.85
1992	15.3	10.9	1.39		4955	2928	4880	0.07	1.02	0.12	1.64	0.12	0.73	1.13
1993	12.9	7.5	1.14		2794	2300	3833	0.07	0.73	0.12	1.18	0.12	0.83	1.38
1994	44.5	7.6	0.89		5872	4552	7587	0.08	0.77	0.13	1.25	0.13	1.84	1.58
1995	50.0	13.2	1.27		6318	6224	10373	0.09	0.61	0.13	0.98	0.13	1.48	1.17
1996	39.5	10.1	1.73		4999	4168	6947	0.06	0.72	0.12	1.16	0.12	1.43	1.04
1997	12.6	13.2	1.23		2910	2967	4944	0.06	0.59	0.11	0.95	0.11	0.61	1.00
1998	28.9	11.0	0.75		2948	3980	6633	0.14	0.44	0.17	0.72	0.17	1.10	1.16
1999	87.7	26.9	0.30		4653	10418	17363	0.15	0.27	0.18	0.43	0.18	1.30	1.05
2000	169.9	69.9	0.39		9691	21800	36334	0.13	0.27	0.16	0.43	0.16	1.09	0.86
2001	129.5	114.1	0.64		15812	25365	42274	0.14	0.37	0.17	0.60	0.17	0.76	0.69
2002	147.2	137.2	0.47		17233	29985	49976	0.12	0.34	0.16	0.56	0.16	0.72	0.66
2003	158.8	188.2	0.31		19822	40033	66721	0.09	0.30	0.14	0.48	0.14	0.60	0.60
2004	202.4	118.9	0.97		24530	36041	60068	0.07	0.41	0.12	0.66	0.12	0.85	
2005	150.0	232.5	0.22		15562	50789	84648	0.08	0.18	0.13	0.30	0.13	0.50	
Mean7905	59.6	42.4	0.86	0.02	7190		18535		0.53		0.86		0.92	
Mean7994	27.0	13.1	0.94		4353		7136		0.62		1.00		0.87	
Mean9505	107.0	85.0	0.8		11316		35116		0.41		0.66		1.01	

Table 3 continued.

Combined (number weighted)													
	SurveyF	Landings	Ebms	CBI	RescaledF	CV	BH-F	MovAvg					
1982		7933	12509	0.63	1.09	0.08	0.59	0.62					
1983	0.66	7392	12912	0.57	0.96	0.07	0.68	0.67					
1984	0.83	6718	11062	0.61	1.07	0.07	0.60	0.73					
1985	0.51	6170	13595	0.45	0.78	0.08	0.72	0.89					
1986	0.53	7797	18096	0.43	0.70	0.07	0.87	1.01					
1987	0.94	12654	19648	0.64	1.13	0.08	1.09	1.15					
1988	0.89	12232	24127	0.51	0.84	0.07	1.06	1.34					
1989	1.48	13634	20851	0.65	1.10	0.14	1.29	1.32					
1990	1.61	16417	22230	0.74	1.25	0.11	1.66	1.26					
1991	1.44	16323	17731	0.92	1.56	0.08	1.01	0.96					
1992	1.20	13192	16650	0.79	1.32	0.09	1.10	1.15					
1993	1.43	6449	8347	0.77	1.30	0.07	0.77	1.20					
1994	0.83	7009	12950	0.54	0.98	0.08	1.57	1.30					
1995	1.09	7300	16758	0.44	0.80	0.08	1.27	0.93					
1996	0.55	7045	21820	0.32	0.58	0.08	1.05	0.70					
1997	0.43	5236	25870	0.20	0.35	0.08	0.48	0.62					
1998	-0.20	4964	54904	0.09	0.18	0.17	0.57	0.72					
1999	0.43	9808	74705	0.13	0.27	0.15	0.81	0.74					
2000	0.12	15128	117735	0.13	0.23	0.11	0.77	0.65					
2001	0.52	20764	130670	0.16	0.28	0.09	0.63	0.53					
2002	0.34	22927	158878	0.14	0.27	0.09	0.55	0.49					
2003	0.38	24744	167622	0.15	0.30	0.08	0.41	0.41					
2004	0.42	28883	193933	0.15	0.34	0.07	0.50						
2005	0.23	25273	198794	0.13	0.22	0.08	0.32						
Mean8205	0.72		57183		0.75		0.75						
Mean8294	1.03		16517		1.08		1.04						
Mean9505	0.39		105608		0.36		0.70						

Figure 1. Sea scallop biomass (g/tow, meats) distribution from the 2005 NEFSC sea scallop survey. Dotted lines show closed/access area boundaries, including the Delmarva closure scheduled for 2007.

(a) Georges Bank



Figure 1 continued.

(b) Mid-Atlantic



Figure 2. Sea scallop landings by region (mt meats), 1964-2005.



Figure 3. Sea scallop landings by meat count category, 1998-2005.



Figure 4. Sea scallop survey biomass and estimated fishing mortality for Georges Bank, Mid-Atlantic, and combined. (a) Georges Bank





(c) Overall



Clearance: All manuscripts submitted for issuance as CRDs must have cleared the NEFSC 's manuscript/abstract/webpage review process. If any author is not a federal employee, he/she will be required to sign an "NEFSC Release-of-Copyright Form." If your manuscript includes material lifted from another work which has been copyrighted, then you will need to work with the NEFSC's Editorial Office to arrange for permission to use that material by securing release signatures on the "NEFSC Use-of- Copyrighted-Work Permission Form."

Organization: Manuscripts must have an abstract and table of contents, and — if applicable — lists of figures and tables. As much as possible, use traditional scientific manuscript organization for sections: "Introduction," "Study Area"/"Experimental Apparatus," "Methods," "Results," "Discussion" and/or "Conclusions," "Acknowledgments," and "Literature/References Cited."

Style: The CRD series is obligated to conform with the style contained in the current edition of the *United States Government Printing Office Style Manual*. That style manual is silent on many aspects of scientific manuscripts. The CRD series relies more on the *CBE/CSE Style Manual*. Manuscripts should be prepared to conform with these style manuals.

The CRD series uses the American Fisheries Society's guides to names of fishes, mollusks, and decapod crustaceans, the Society for Marine Mammalogy's guide to names of marine mammals, the Biosciences Information Service's guide to serial title abbreviations, and the International Standardization Organization's guide to statistical terms.

For in-text citation, use the name-date system. A special effort should be made to ensure that all necessary bibliographic information is included in the list of cited works. Personal communications must include date, full name, and full mailing address of the contact. Preparation: The document must be paginated continuously from beginning to end and must have a "Table of Contents." Begin the preliminary pages of the document -- always the "Table of Contents" -- with page "iii." Begin the body of the document -- normally the "Introduction" -- with page "1," and continuously paginate all pages including tables, figures, appendices, and indices. You can insert blank pages as appropriate throughout the document, but account for them in your pagination (e.g., if your last figure ends on an odd-numbered/right-hand page such as "75," and if your next page is the first page of an appendix, then you would normally insert a blank page after the last figure, and paginate the first page of the appendix as "77" to make it begin on an odd-numbered/right-hand page also). Forward the final version to the Editorial Office as both a paper copy and electronically (i.e., e-mail attachment, 3.5-inch floppy disk, high-density zip disk, or CD). For purposes of publishing the CRD series only, the use of Microsoft Word is preferable to the use of Corel WordPerfect.

Production and Distribution: The Editorial Office will develop the inside and outside front covers, the inside and outside back covers, and the title and bibliographic control pages (pages "i" and "ii") of the document, then combine those covers and preliminary pages with the text that you have supplied. The document will then be issued online.

Paper copies of the four covers and two preliminary pages will be sent to the sole/senior NEFSC author should he/she wish to prepare some paper copies of the overall document as well. The Editorial Office will only produce three paper copies (*i.e.*, two copies for the NEFSC's libraries and one copy for its own archives) of the overall document.

A number of organizations and individuals in the Northeast Region will be notified by e-mail of the availability of the online version of the document. The sole/senior NEFSC author of the document will receive a list of those so notified. Research Communications Branch Northeast Fisheries Science Center National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA 166 Water St. Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026

MEDIA MAIL

Publications and Reports of the Northeast Fisheries Science Center

The mission of NOAA's National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is "stewardship of living marine resources for the benefit of the nation through their science-based conservation and management and promotion of the health of their environment." As the research arm of the NMFS's Northeast Region, the Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC) supports the NMFS mission by "conducting ecosystem-based research and assessments of living marine resources, with a focus on the Northeast Shelf, to promote the recovery and long-term sustainability of these resources and to generate social and economic opportunities and benefits from their use." Results of NEFSC research are largely reported in primary scientific media (*e.g.*, anonymously-peer-reviewed scientific journals). However, to assist itself in providing data, information, and advice to its constituents, the NEFSC occasionally releases its results in its own media. Currently, there are three such media:

NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports of long-term field or lab studies of important species or habitats; synthesis reports for important species or habitats; annual reports of overall assessment or monitoring programs; manuals describing program-wide surveying or experimental techniques; literature surveys of important species or habitat topics; proceedings and collected papers of scientific meetings; and indexed and/or annotated bibliographies. All issues receive internal scientific review and most issues receive technical and copy editing.

Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports on field and lab studies; progress reports on experiments, monitoring, and assessments; background papers for, collected abstracts of, and/or summary reports of scientific meetings; and simple bibliographies. Issues receive internal scientific review, but no technical or copy editing.

Resource Survey Report (formerly *Fishermen's Report*) -- This information report is a quick-turnaround report on the distribution and relative abundance of selected living marine resources as derived from each of the NEFSC's periodic research vessel surveys of the Northeast's continental shelf. There is no scientific review, nor any technical or copy editing, of this report.

OBTAINING A COPY: To obtain a copy of a *NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE* or a *Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document*, or to subscribe to the *Resource Survey Report*, either contact the NEFSC Editorial Office (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026; 508-495-2350) or consult the NEFSC webpage on "Reports and Publications" (*http://www.nefsc. noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/*).

ANY USE OF TRADE OR BRAND NAMES IN ANY NEFSC PUBLICATION OR REPORT DOES NOT IMPLY ENDORSEMENT.